1941

R. C. Syrett v. Tropic and East Fork Irrigation Company, and John H. Johnson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENTS OF FACTS

The defendant company was incorporated on the 27th day of March, 1893. (Defendant's Exhibit originally marked 1B, later marked "Defendant's Exhibit I", which is a certified copy of the Articles of Incorporation of the Defendant Company.) (Trans. 433-434.)

The Articles of Incorporation, so far as material to this action, provide:

"The object of this Corporation is to construct a canal from the East Fork of the Sevier River to Tropic and to keep the same in repair for the conducting of the water from said stream to the Town of Tropic also to control the waters of Bryce Canyon for culinary and irrigation purposes for said Town." (Trans. 433-434)

And Article XI:

“The Directors shall have power to levy and collect assessments on all Capital of this Company for the purpose of keeping in repair all ditches and dams, and the payment of its officers and employees, and shall divide the water to each person according to his stock as a dividend.”

The Articles of Incorporation were filed for record in the Clerk's office of Garfield County, Utah, on the 27th day of March, 1893. (Trans. 433)

More than five years after the incorporation of the Defendant company, to-wit: on the 14th day of May, 1898, certain appropriators residing at the Town of Tropic, conveyed to the said corporation their water rights appropriated from the East Fork of the Sevier River, and some other water rights, by a certain deed, marked “Defendant's Exhibit H,” also marked “Defendant's Exhibit 1A”. (Trans. 429-432)

The following is a copy of the said Deed, except the names of the grantors, to-wit:

DEFENDANT'S EXHIBIT H.

“This Indenture made the 23rd day of December, 1897, between the undersigned residents of Tropic, in the County of Garfield, and State of Utah, the parties of the first part, and the Tropic and East Fork Irrigation Company, a corporation, whose principal place of business is at said Tropic, Garfield County, State of Utah, the party of the second part;—Witnesseth:—

That whereas, the said Tropic and East Fork Irrigation Company has been duly incorporated under the laws of the State of Utah, and to which said Incorporation it is intended by this Instrument to transfer all the right, title and interest of the parties of the first part, which they and each of them have or claim in and to the following described property and premises, to-wit:—

All that certain stream of water in said County, known as the East Fork of Sevier River, and all the tributaries thereof, and all canals, aqueducts, ditches, flumes, and other water courses, whatsoever, leading from said stream of water, to and upon lands owned by the said parties of the first part, or either of them, or to and upon any lands in, at or near the said town of Tropic, or in the vicinity thereof.

Also all the waters of that certain stream known as Spring Creek, which said last mentioned stream rises in the mountains west of said town of Tropic, and flows thence Easterly to and through said town of Tropic, and is used for irrigation, domestic and culinary purposes by the inhabitants thereof and vicinity, together with all main canals, ditches, flumes, aqueducts, or other water courses now used or constructed for the purpose of conveying the waters of said Spring Creek to said inhabitants or any of them for the uses and purposes aforesaid.

With all necessary waste ditches, dams, head gates,

and escape gates, and the appurtenances thereunto belonging, or in any wise appertaining; each of our interests being represented by the number of equal shares in said property set opposite our names, respectively, with the value of each of said shares estimated at the uniform sum of One Dollar each, as follows:

(Names of owners, number of shares owned, and value.)

That the parties of the first part and each of them, whose names are hereunto subscribed, in consideration of certificates of stock in said incorporated Company, hereafter to be issued to them and each of them, their heirs and assigns, in the same amounts and value to each of said first parties, as hereinbefore set out, do by these presents grant, bargain, sell, transfer, remise, release and quit claim unto the said Tropic and East Fork Irrigation Company, all their, and each of their right, title and interest, claim and demand whatsoever, in law or in equity, or, in and to all of said property, canals, ditches, flumes, water courses, head gates, dams and appurtenances described as aforesaid, and the waters of said streams and each of them, and of the tributaries thereto, and all water rights, or right to use or control any of the waters thereof.

To have and to hold the said premises and property unto the said Tropic and East Fork Irrigation Company, its successors and assigns forever.

In witness whereof, the said parties of the first part have hereunto set their hands and seals this 14th day of May, 1898.”

(Names of Parties of the First Part.)

Two certificates of acknowledgment—each dated the 14th day of May, 1898.

The defendant's predecessors in interest appropriated the waters in question about 1892, and built a canal from the point of diversion on the east fork of the Sevier River in the Great Basin, over the mountain and across the top of the Continental Divide, dividing the Great Basin water shed from the Colorado water shed, and took this water down through a steep canyon, (Water Canyon) to the town of Tropic, in the valley below the Continental Divide, where they have used this water ever since.

It is stipuated that any water from defendant's canal, used in the Great Basin, will drain out through the Great Basin, and that any water used on the other side of the mountain, where defendant's irrigation system is, will drain out through the Colorado water shed. (Trans. 166-167)

MR. LOWRY: “We will stipulate the water used on Mr. Syrett's land, the Ruby Inn, cannot drain down to the Town of Tropic.”

MR. LARSON: “All right, that will be fine.” (Trans. 166-167)

The Tropic irrigation system is fully described by

plaintiff's witness, J. Austin Cope. (Trans. 323-326)

The age of J. Austin Cope is 44 years. He has lived in Tropic for 37 years. (Trans. 319)

The plaintiff says that Ruby's Inn is six miles from the town of Tropic, the way the water runs, and about nine miles by the road, and that Ruby's Inn is 11½ miles west from the east line of the Great Basin, by airline. (Trans. 164)

(Trans. 197) Plaintiff testified as follows:

Q "Well, they have never refused to let you use the water on the farm?" (Meaning the Tillie Shakespear farm which plaintiff purchased on foreclosure.)

A. "I haven't asked."

Q. "You never asked?"

A. "No, sir."

Q. "You do not want to farm in the Tropic Valley?"

A. "No. That is, not if I can get out of it."

Q. "The company never refused to let you use any of this water in the Tropic Valley, did they?"

A. "No, sir."

Q. "You have always been free to use it there,"

A. "I never asked."

Q. "But you have always known you had the right to the use of it?"

A. "Yes, sir." (Trans. 197)

Q. (Trans. 197-198) "What you were trying to get them to consede was the right to the use of that water in the Great Basin, away from

their irrigation system?"

A. "Not away from their irrigation system, no, sir."

Q. "Away from where they have used water, and away from where you knew water had been used at Tropic before you bought it?"

A. "Yes, sir." (Trans. 198)

Q. "You knew in each instance, when you got this water, it had been used down in the Tropic system, down in the valley, didn't you?"

A. "Yes, sir."

Q. "But you have never wanted to use it there, or any of it, have you?"

A. "No, sir."

Q. "You do not want to use it there now?"

A. "No, sir."

Q. (Trans. 203) "You have no purpose other than to try to get the privilege of using this water up by Ruby's Inn, in the Great Basin, do you?"

A. "No, sir."

The original Complaint was filed April 10, 1937. It was not claimed in said Complaint that the plaintiff had ever used any water from the Tropic Irrigation system on his land. The burden of the Complaint seems to be to get \$5,000.00 damages because of the loss of patronage of a great number of tourists because plaintiff has been unable to supply them with water in their rooms, and the principal object, from the face of the Com-

plaint, appears to be to get water to sink in the ground to fill a well with which to supply the tourists.

When the action was commenced, plaintiff claimed 320 shares in defendant company. At the time of the commencement of the trial, on April 6, 1938, the plaintiff asked leave to make several amendments to the Complaint, by interlineation. (Trans. 80-81)

STATEMENT OF ERRORS

Relied on for Reversal.

1. The Court erred in overruling Defendant's Demurrer to Plaintiff's Complaint.

2. The Court erred in making no findings of fact on the issue of estoppel and amendment to Articles of Incorporation, raised in Plaintiff's Reply, (Trans. 45) where it is said:

"In reply to Defendant's Second Further and Separate Defense, said Defendant is *estopped to claim that it is controlled by its object*, as set forth in its Articles of Incorporation, and Plaintiff alleges that by virtue of the acts of Defendant in *allowing* the use of water under its irrigation system at the various points and times enumerated hereofore, *that said Defendant has made an effective amendment to its Articles of Incorporation, which this plaintiff has relied on*, and to allow said Defendant to deny said amendment will result in great injury to this Plaintiff."

3. The Court erred in overruling Defendant's motion for a new trial, that is, the motion addressed to the

“Amended Findings of Fact, Amended Conclusions of Law and Amended Judgment.”

Notice of Motion, (Trans. 410) Order Denying Motion for New Trial, (Trans. 418)

4. The Court erred in its Finding of Fact No. 6, (Trans. 400) wherein it finds, in the last three lines of said paragraph, that:

“Defendant has wholly failed and refused to allow plaintiff to use said water in defendant’s canal and under its control on plaintiff’s farm.” (Assuming the Court refers to plaintiff’s farm in the Great Basin and not plaintiff’s farm on the Colorado Water Shed.)

5. The Court erred in its Finding of Fact No. 10, in that particular part thereof embodied in lines No. 14 and 15 of said Finding, where it is said, relative to the use of the water of defendant company, that it has been used:

“Upon and near the land and owned by the plaintiff described in paragraph 3 hereof.”

6. The Court erred in its Finding of Fact No. 12, particularly in that part thereof embodied in the ninth line, where it is said:

“Over 25 years last past in the neighborhood of Ruby’s Inn.”

7. The Court erred in its Findings of Fact No. 14, and particularly in that part thereof where it is said:

“The waters have been beneficially applied to and used upon the lands within the company’s irri-

gation system, in the neighborhood of Ruby's Inn."

8. The Court erred in its Finding of Fact No. 16, (Trans. 403) where the Court finds:

"That any water taken from the said canal in the Great Basin by the plaintiff or by anyone else, will not injure the water rights, the lands and the property rights of this defendant and its stockholders, and it will not do this defendant or its stockholders injury and damage."

9. The Court erred in its Finding of Fact No. 17, and the whole thereof.

10. The Court erred in its Finding of Fact No. 20, and in the whole thereof, wherein he finds that the use of the water at Ruby's Inn in the Great Basin, will not impair the vested rights of defendant or its stockholders. (Trans. 403-405.)

11. The Court erred in its Finding of Fact No. 22, and in the whole thereof.

12. The Court erred in the Finding of Fact No. 23, in that particular part thereof wherein the Court finds:

"And the cost to defendant and its stockholders of delivering water to the plaintiff on his farm, corresponding to his ownership of shares of stock in the defendant company, will not exceed the cost to said defendant company of delivering water to other of defendant's stockholders owning a corresponding amount of stock to that owned by the plaintiff, and the delivery of water to plaintiff on his farm, (assuming that the farm in the Great Basin is intended) will not result in detriment and annoyance, and will not cost this defendant out of proportion or in

excess of the detriment or loss corresponding to plaintiff's ownership of stock."

13. Conclusions of Law. (Trans. 405-406)

The Court erred in its fourth Conclusions of Law, and the whole thereof, (assuming that the land therein referred to, being in defendant's irrigation system, is meant to include the land owned by the plaintiff in the Great Basin.)

14. The Court erred in its Conclusions of Law No. 6, in that part thereof wherein it is said in the first line:

"This controversy is one relating to internal management."

15. The Court erred in its Conclusions of Law No. 7, wherein it concludes: (Trans. 406)

"Defendant is estopped to deny that it does not have the power under its Articles of Incorporation, to deliver water to the plaintiff on his farm in the Great Basin."

16. The Court erred in its Conclusion of Law No. 9, and the whole thereof.

17. The Court erred in entering its Amended Judgment for the plaintiff against the defendant. (Trans. 407-408)

STATEMENT AND ARGUMENT

Upon the Particular Questions Involved for Determination.

The fundamental questions to be determined here, as the writer sees them, are:

1. Whether the Ruby's Inn and lands there located, in the Great Basin, 10 miles away from the Tropic system, are within the Tropic and East Fork Irrigation Company's system on the Colorado Water Shed, because water will run *by gravity* from the diverting canal of the company to plaintiff's lands below it.

2. Whether the land at Ruby's Inn in the Great Basin, is in the irrigation system of the Tropic and East Fork Irrigation Company, as fixed by its Articles of Incorporation, which is a contract binding on the stockholders of the company as among themselves, and binding on the corporation, and on the corporation in its relations with its stockholders.

16 C. J. S., page 804,

"Constitutional Law," No. 365.

3. Has the Court the right, under the Constitution of this State and the Constitution of the United States, to interfere with the vested rights of the stockholders, as fixed by the Articles of Incorporation and Deed of Trust.

4. Is the defendant company "Estopped to claim that it is controlled by its object as set forth in its Articles of Incorporation," as alleged by plaintiff's Reply (Trans. 45) and concluded by the Court in its Conclusion of Law No. 7? (Trans. 406.)

5. Are the questions involved in this case, questions of or relating to "Internal Management" of a cor-

poration, as the Court concludes in its 6th Conclusion of Law? (Trans. 406.)

6. That by argument and discussion of the foregoing proposition, all of the foregoing seventeen assigned errors are necessarily discussed, though not argued seriatim.

ARGUMENT.

We will first discuss fundamental question Number 1.

The writer knows of no rule of law that will prevent men from contracting, as the stockholders did in this case with the corporation, to fix and limit the system where the water conveyed to the corporation is to be used. This water taken from the very head of the Sevier River could be used on any of the irrigation systems, and there are many of them, between the intake of defendant's canal and Hinkley, Oasis or Delta, at or near the mouth of the Sevier River. These and many other places along the Sevier River for a distance of 150 miles, have separate and independent irrigation systems. To say that the water, because it will run by gravity to places hundreds of miles, does not seem to be reasonable and it is not law. If so, a man could go to the little town of Tropic and buy shares of stock for a dollar or two each, and take them down the river away from the Tropic system to Marysvale or Richfield or Salina, Fayette, Delta, or Hinkley, where the water is much more expensive

and deprive this little company of the benefit of its labor in building a long canal found by the Court to be 20 miles long, and utterly ruin the remaining stockholders, because if one person can take water entirely out of the system contrary to agreement in the Articles of Incorporation and on to another water shed, either 620 shares, or any other number of shares, then another person can do the same thing. And if a considerable portion of the water is diverted in the Great Basin, it goes without saying that the stockholders located in the little system of Tropic, will be injured, by loss of seepage and evaporation, even though the Company may not be required to supervise distribution of such water in the Great Basin or in Millard County or Sevier County or Piute County.

In Kinney on Irrigation, Second Edition. Par. 1484, the author says*

“It has been held in a late case in California that the contract as embodied in the Articles of Incorporation, may restrict the use of water in a mutual irrigation company, to the land devoted exclusively to the use of each stockholder. (Note 10.)”

Citing Miller vs. Imperial Water Company, 156 Cal. 27; 103 Pac. 227.

In Consolidated People's Ditch Company, et al., vs. Foothill Ditch Company, et al., 269 Pac. 19, it is held:

Syllabus 10:

“Stockholder in ordinary corporation owning water right has no right to receive water in any other

manner or place than provided by corporation for distribution.”

In the foregoing case the question is very fully and ably discussed.

In Kinney on Irrigation, Second Edition, par. 1480, it is said; that mutual corporations

“Are not organized for the purpose of either furnishing or carrying water to all whose lands are so situated that they may be irrigated from the system of works of the corporation. (Note 3.)”

Citing cases.

Re: Fundamental question Number 2. Whether the land at Ruby's Inn in the Great Basin is in the irrigation system of the Tropic and East Fork Irrigation Company, et al., as fixed by its Articles of Incorporation.

It is perfectly clear from the purpose clause of the Articles of Incorporation of this company, hereinbefore set out and embodied in Defendant's Exhibit I, that it was the intention of the incorporators at the time of the incorporation of the company, to fix their irrigation system at and in the immediate vicinity of the town of Tropic, where they lived. It was not until more than thirty years thereafter that the plaintiff sought to divert water elsewhere than at Tropic. The incorporators never contemplated such a thing, nor did the persons who conveyed their water rights to the corporation in 1898, which is apparent from the purpose clause of the

corporation and from the Deed of Conveyance to the corporation, which contracts are binding on the parties thereto, and binding as between the stockholders, inter se.

In 16 C. J. S. title Constitutional Law, par. 365, the black letter heading is:

“The Constitutional prohibition against impairment applies to contracts between stockholders and members of private corporations, and the corporation and among those individuals themselves.”

Cases cited.

It may be said that the constitutional prohibition against impairment applies only to legislative acts, but that is not the law. It applies to judicial decisions as well.

16 C. J. S., par. 280, title Judicial Decisions, treats this phase of constitutional law.

I note that the cases cited under Note 52 in said paragraph, *Fleming vs. Fleming*, 68 Law Ed. 547, and other cases are cited in a recent Utah case, to-wit: *Fuller-Tompence Truck Co. v. Public Service Commission, et al.*, at page 726, 96 Pac. Rep. Second Series.

Continuing in paragraph 280, 16 C. J. S., Judicial Decisions, Constitutional Law, at page 700, it is said:

“However, even though such constitutional inhibitions do not apply to judicial decisions, the Courts are not authorized to violate or impair contract obligations. (Note 57.)”

And cases cited.

Re: Fundamental question number 3, has the court the right under the Constitution of the State and the Constitution of the United States, to interfere with the vested rights of stockholders as fixed by the Articles of Incorporation and deed of trust.

See authorities last above cited.

“The obligation of a contract valid when made under the laws of the state as then expounded, cannot be impaired by any subsequent decision of the courts altering the construction of the law.”

Oliver Company vs. Louisville Realty
Company, (Ky.)

161 S. W. 570.

51 L. R. A. NS. 293.

Ann. Cas. 1915C 565.

There is absolutely nothing in the evidence to the effect that the company ever consented to let plaintiff use any water in the Great Basin. The only evidence in the case relative to any action on the part of the Company in regard to the use of water in the Great Basin, is the minute entry dated March 28, 1924, and is identified as Defendant's "Exhibit J," (Trans. 512) a copy of which is as follows:

“March 28, 1924. The Board of the East Fork Irrigation Company met at 8 p. m. W. V. Rappley, President.

J. A. Cope asked for the right to take the water

out on the mountain for a desert entry. We decided the Board had no right to grant it.

The bids for Watermaster were opened. Thomas Richards bid was accepted. \$65.00 for East Fork and \$12.50 Spring Creek.” (Trans. 513.)

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