1941

R. C. Syrett v. Tropic and East Fork Irrigation Company, and John H. Johnson : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

Proposition I

THE PURPOSE CLAUSE OF THE ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION OF THE DEFENDANT CORPORATION DOES NOT RESTRICT THE DELIVERY OF WATER TO ANY PARTICULAR PLACE, BUT ON THE CONTRARY, PERMITS ITS DELIVERY AT ANY POINT IN THE SYSTEM FROM THE HEAD OF THE CANAL OR DITCH TO THE LOWER END.

If the interpretation which the appellants (defendants) attempt to put on the purpose clause were strictly carried out to its logical conclusion, one might easily say that the only purpose for the defendant corporation was to construct and repair a canal—i. e., a construction corporation. Let us examine that portion of the purpose clause in which we are interested.

“The object of this Corporation is to *construct a canal* from the East Fork of the Sevier River to Tropic and to *keep the same in repair* for the con-

ducting of the water from said stream to the Town of Tropic . . .” (Italics added).

There is nothing in this paragraph or so called purpose clause dealing with the distribution of water. It deals with the construction and maintenance of a canal.

Further, to adopt any such strained, twisted interpretation as the appellants are attempting to put on said purpose clause would limit the use of the water to the limits of the Town of Tropic in which there are no farms, and except for a few gardens and other small areas very little irrigating is done or could be done.

The only mention in the Articles in regard to the distribution of water is that reference made in Article XI:

“The Directors shall have power to levy and collect assessments on all capital of this company for the purpose of keeping in repair all ditches and dams, and the payment of its officers and employees, *and shall divide the water to each person according to his stock as a dividend.*” (Italics added.)

As the court can readily see, there is nothing restrictive or even directory as to where the water should be delivered except that it should be delivered to stockholders.

The appellants (defendants) further argue that the deed of conveyance made by the original appropriators restricts the use of the water to the land lying in the Colorado water shed.

A careful reading of the deed, defendant's Exhibit "H," fails to disclose any such claimed reservation or restriction. The only reference, in the deed of conveyance, to the Town of Tropic is in the second and third paragraphs. (We are not interested in the third paragraph which refers to the culinary water arising in Bryce Canyon.) This is merely a description of the property conveyed to the defendant corporation, and said description refers to the Town of Tropic in a general way only by saying:

"At or near the said Town of Tropic, or in the vicinity thereof."

We therefore submit that there is nothing in the Articles of Incorporation or in the deed of conveyance which in any way restricts the use or the place at which the water belonging to the stockholders shall be used.

The plaintiff in this action is a stockholder with land under the irrigation system; the canal runs through his land for approximately three miles; he is entitled to all the rights of a stockholder and the defendant corporation owes to him all the duties which a mutual irrigation company owes to its stockholders.

The rights of a stockholder in a mutual irrigation company are discussed in Kinney on Irrigation and Water Rights, Second Edition, Vol. 3, Sec. 1483. The author cites, among many cases, the case of Rocky Ford Canal, Reservoir, Land, Loan & Trust Company v. Sampson, 5 Colo.

App. 30, 36 Pac. 638. The Colorado court held that a stockholder of an irrigation company, organized to furnish water exclusively to its stockholders, is entitled to the proportion of water carried through its irrigation canal which the amount of his stock bears to the whole amount of the stock of the company. The court also held in that case *The relation between a corporation and its members is one of contract.* (Italics added)

This later statement is axiomatic and needs no long list of cases to support it.

With the thought in mind that the right of a stockholder as against the corporation is one of contract, we call the court's attention to the case of *Möyle vs. Salt Lake City*, reported in 50 Utah 357, 167 P. 660, which presents certain features of striking similarity. In that case, the plaintiff made a contract to exchange her water under an appropriation from Parley's Creek, for certain irrigation waters brought by the city through its own canal from Utah Lake into Salt Lake valley. The point at which the plaintiff would accept delivery of the exchange water was not specified in the contract, but for years she accepted the water at a certain point. Later, owing to the building up of the residential section near the lands where she used this water, she considered it expedient to transfer the water to other lands lying several miles to the South and requested delivery of the water at a point about five miles up the city's canal. The Supreme Court of Utah held that she was entitled to demand

this change, remarking that, in its opinion, the matter involved was in reality nothing but a change of place of delivery.

Referring again to the rights of stockholders, we call the court's attention to Sec. 1487 of Vol. 3 of Kinney on Irrigation and in particular to the case cited therein of *Miller v. Imperial Water Co.*, 156 Cal. 27, 103 Pac. 227. In this case the California court held as follows:

"For instance, nothing is more thoroughly established than the rule than mandamus will lie to restore to his corporate rights a member of a corporation who has been improperly disfranchised or irregularly removed from his connection with the corporation, and yet his right in this regard generally rests wholly on his contract of membership. The same rule appears to us to be applicable where the member is being excluded from participation in the benefits afforded by the corporation to its members, and there is no other adequate remedy. In the case at bar, the stockholder's rights to have water furnished on his land is not based on any special contract entered into by him with the corporation, but it is an inseparable adjunct of his membership and it is a plain duty resting on the corporation in the exercise of its corporate functions to furnish him such water."

A mutual irrigation company is under a duty and obligation to furnish water exclusively to its stockholders proportionately as the number of shares of each bears to the whole number of shares of stock of the company. Kin-

ney on Irrigation, 2nd Edition, Vol. 3, Section 1486. In addition to the foregoing, it may not be amiss to add that in Utah, stock in mutual incorporated ditch companies is held to be personal property, which may be freely transferred by assignment, sale, execution, etc., the purchaser taking good title and having the right to use the water represented by the stock on any lands on which he pleases to use it. 3 Kinney on Irrig., 2nd Ed., Sec. 1485; *George vs. Robinson*, 23 Utah 79, 63 P. 819.

This obviously makes such waters freely transferable to other lands under the same company's system, and allows a free and ready method of changing the point of delivery.

The appellants use much space and time in discussing the court's right to impair the contract between the stockholders and the corporation. As counsel states it, the court, in granting the plaintiff's prayer, is violating a valid contract between the stockholders and the corporation.

We have no quarrel with the appellants' statement of the law, but we do contend that it does not apply in this case. The only logical interpretation to be put on the contract existing between the stockholders and the defendant corporation is that interpretation made by the plaintiff and accepted by the court below, viz., that the plaintiff, a stockholder in good standing, is entitled to have the water represented by his shares of stock delivered

to him on his land at Ruby's Inn, said land being within the irrigation system of the defendant corporation.

Proposition II

A CORPORATION HAS THE POWER TO DO ALL THINGS WHICH ARE NECESSARILY IN ITS STATED OBJECTS.

The defense of the defendant sets forth that the stated object of the corporation was:

“To construct a canal from the East Fork of the Sevier River to Tropic, and to keep the same in repair for the conducting of the water in said stream to the Town of Tropic.”

If the stated purpose is the only business which the corporation can carry on, it has no power to distribute water to its stockholders in the Town of Tropic or anywhere else. Such a construction of the stated purposes is absurd.

If there is implied in these stated purposes the right to distribute water to stockholders in the Town of Tropic, there is also implied the right to distribute water to stockholders at any point along the canal between the East Fork of the Sevier River and Tropic; and the settled practice of the company over the entire term of its existence has resulted in an interpretation of these stated objects which has been relied upon by the plaintiff and cannot now be changed to plaintiff's detriment.

If the corporation has the right to take water from Point A to Point G and deliver it to users at Point G, it clearly has the power to take water from Point A to intermediate points B. C. D. E, and F, and deliver water to users at those points.

13 Am. Jur. 772, Section 740:

“General Nature and Scope of Implied and Incidental Powers.—It is a well-recognized rule that a corporation is not restricted to the exercise of the powers expressly conferred upon it by its charter, but has the implied or incidental power to do whatever is reasonably necessary to effectuate the powers expressly granted and to accomplish the purpose for which it was formed, unless the particular act sought to be done is prohibited by the law or by its charter. Otherwise stated, a corporation, like a natural person, has a right to conduct its legitimate business by all the means necessary to effect such object. The implied powers which a corporation has in order to carry into effect those expressly granted and to accomplish the purposes of its creation are not limited to such as are indispensable for these purposes, but comprise all that are necessary, in the sense of appropriate and suitable, including the right of reasonable choice of means to be employed. Again, acts which, if standing alone or when engaged in as a business, would be beyond the powers of the corporation are not necessarily *ultra vires* when they are merely incidental to, or form a part of, an entire transaction which in its general scope is within the corporate purpose.”

Proposition III

IF THE ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION WERE INTENDED TO BE RESTRICTIVE, THEN THE CONDUCT OF THE DEFENDANT HAS BEEN SUCH THAT IT IS STOPPED FROM RELYING ON THE DOCTRINE OF ULTRA VIRES AS A DEFENSE.

Regardless of what was the intention of the incorporators at the time of the drawing of the articles, we find them at the very beginning constructing a canal around to Lossee Valley. Then as early as 1916 stockholders were using water in the neighborhood of the plaintiff's land (Tr. 211, 277, 300, 562); and from 1923 to 1934 there was delivered to the plaintiff the water represented by his fifty shares of stock with no question whatsoever being raised. In 1926 the defendant sold to the Los Angeles & Salt Lake Railroad water out of its system to be used on the plateau near the plaintiff's land.

In this respect, we call to the court's attention the case of Clark et al v. North Cottonwood Irrigation & Water Co., reported in 79 Utah 425, 11 Pac. (2d) 300, wherein the court held:

“Moreover, the provisions of the articles of incorporation are not necessarily controlling in fixing the present right of the parties to this litigation. The articles were executed in 1891, so that the present rights of the parties depend rather upon the use to which the water has been put since the organization of the defendant company than upon

the provisions contained in its articles of incorporation.”

We also call the court’s attention to Section 623, Williston on Contracts, Revised Edition, as to the interpretation of contracts; also to Fletcher Cyclopedia of Corporations, Permanent Edition, Vol. 7, beginning at Page 775.

The respondent submits therefore that if there is any ambiguity in the articles such ambiguity should be resolved against the corporation and in favor of the plaintiff. In other words, the corporation is estopped from relying on the doctrine of ultra vires by reason of its course of conduct over the years from at least 1916 to and including 1934.

In the case of Bear River Valley Orchard Co. v. P. M. Hanley, 15 Utah 506, 50 Pac. 611; our court said:

“The doctrine of ultra vires, when invoked for or against a corporation should not be allowed when it would defeat the ends of justice or work a legal wrong.”

See also 13 Am. Jur. 793, Sec. 766 and cases listed in note thereto. In 14A-C. J., 324, it is said:

“However, other authorities have so limited the doctrine of ultra vires, as to private corporations, created for business purposes, by applying to them the doctrine of estoppel, as almost to destroy it,

and in the majority of jurisdictions support the rule than an ultra vires transaction when executed by one of the parties may become enforceable by estoppel.”

Proposition IV

In regard to the appellant's Assignment of Error No. 2, we call the court's attention to Finding of Fact No. 22 in which is set out all the facts necessary to constitute or set up an estoppel. As to whether these facts result in an estoppel is properly a question of law and the court, in its Conclusions of Law, concluded that the defendant was estopped from denying that it did not have the right and power under its articles to deliver water to the plaintiff. (Conclusion of Law No. 7.)

The appellant also complains and assigns as error (4, 5, 6, 7) certain findings of the trial court, claiming they are inconsistent. This is answered by reading merely the Complaint and recalling the evidence. The facts show that water was used on the land of the plaintiff by the plaintiff from 1923 to 1934 and by others from 1916 to and including the date of trial. (The Los Angeles & Salt Lake Railroad at the Lodge at Bryce Canyon.) (Findings of Fact 10, 12, 14.)

In 1935, the defendant stopped delivering water to the plaintiff which act resulted in this law suit. (Tr. 109.) Finding of Fact No. 6, when considered with Finding of

Fact No. 7, clearly shows that there is nothing inconsistent between the various findings.

This being an equity case, the Supreme Court may review the record, approve or disapprove the findings, or modify them or make or direct findings. *Holm v. Holm*, 44 Utah 242, 139 Pac. 937; *Westminster Inv. Co. v. McCurtain*, 39 Utah 544, 118 Pac. 564; *Leland v. Bourne*, 41 Utah 125, 125 Pac. 652.

Proposition V

The appellants claim (Assignment of Error No. 8) that the court erred in its Finding No. 16, claiming there was no evidence to support it. We simply call the court's attention to the testimony of George F. Taylor, (Tr. 257) and to the fact that it is not the practice of the water boss or master to visit each stockholder when it is his turn to take water. (Tr. 463, 467, 504, 505, 506, 526.) We may point out, also, that the company has stood the cost of all head gates or weirs installed. (Tr. 469.)

This argument of the appellants again shows the attempt on the part of the defendant and their present officers to discriminate against the plaintiff.

In regard to the reference of the appellants to the loss of seepage or drainage water, we again call the court's attention to testimony of the expert Mr. Taylor (Tr. 261, 262, 274), in which he testified that there would

not be any loss to the defendant corporation or other stockholders because of seepage or evaporation.

The appellants claim that the use of water by plaintiff will prevent various persons who have been using waste water from defendant's irrigation system to obtain the right to use this water since the use of the water by plaintiff will be in a different water shed from where it had been used before.

The cases are legion that no right can be acquired to waste water which has been beneficially used by another. Or, stated in another way, no one can require a valid appropriator of water to continue to use that water so that waste water will result which can be used by another.

Among the many cases on this proposition we cite the following:

Gianulakis v. Sharp, 71 Utah 528, 267 P. 1017; Spring Creek Irrigation Company v. Zollinger, 58 Utah 90, 197 P. 737. Weil Water Rights in the Western States (3rd Ed.), Vol 1, Sec. 508, p. 548; Kinney on Irrigation and Water Rights (2nd Ed.), Vol. 2, Sec. 867, p. 1522. The appellants Assignments of Error Nos. 9, 10, 11, 13, 14, 15 and 16 are merely restatements of No. 8, and the answer to that assignment answers the other assignments.

In regard to Assignment of Error No. 11 in which the

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